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poet, 'God's great gift of speech abused,' never received 
darker illustration. 

What says the able Editor of the State Papc.rs on which 
this Vindication is founded? 'History furnts"hes no more 
striking example of the g~owth and vitality of a slander. 
The Rohilla atrocities owe their origin to the malignity 
of Champion and Francis; their growth to the rhetoric 
of Burke; and tPleir wide diffusion tcf the brilliancy and 
pellucid clearness of Ma«l.ulay's style. A close and minute 
stucJy of the evidence demonstratt:~ that a certain number 
of the villages were burned, and that the prisoners were 
ill sub.<,rsted. A h~ndred thousand peop~e did :1ot fly to 
pestilential jungles, but about seventeen or eighteen hundred 
Rohillas with their families were expelled from Rohilcund, 
and Hindu inhabitants, amounting to about seven hundred 
thousand, remained in possession of their patrimonial acres 
and were seen cultivating their fields in peace.' 1 

\Vhat says Sir John StrJchcy, a most distinguished 
Indian administrator, as well as a highly informed and 
capable author. speaking from his own experience? 'Several 
year., of my Indian service were passed m the province 
of Rohllkhand. \Vhen I 'va'- first sent there, old men were 
.,till Ii\! ing \\ ho remembered having heard in their childhood 
lhc sto!), of Hafiz Rahmat, the great Rohilla Chief, of his 
defeat by the Englbh, and his death. I went to Rohilkhand 
without a doubt of the truth of the terrible story told 
by' Burke and Mill and by Lord Macaulay in his famous 
essay, ~ut I soon changed my opinion. I found myself 
in the midst of a population by which the history of those 
times had not been forgotten, and of which an important 
and numemus section consisted of Rohillas, the children 
and grandchildren of the men whose race was supposed 
to have been almost exterminated. I was in frequent com­
munication with.a Rohilla Prince who ruled over a con­
siderable terfltory which his ancc~t~r owed to Warren 
Hastings", and which had been in" the possession of his . .. 

1 State Paftys, Introd., p ..... xxxi. 
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family ever since. N (j one had ever heard of the atrocities 
which to this day fill Englishmen with shame. Later in 
life I was ab.le to undertake an examination of the original 
authorities on the Rohilla war, and I can hardly express in 
moderate language my indignation at the misrepresenta-

f 

tions, the suppression of truth, the garbling of documents 
of which I found that Mill had been guilty. The English 
army was not hireJ out by Hastings f6r the destruction 
of the Rohillas: the Rohillas, deiiCribed by Burke as be­
longing to " the bravestl the most honourable and genct;ous 
nation on earth", were no nation at all, but a comparatively 
small bodr of l-flH::i and rapacious Afghan adventufers who 
had imposed their foreign rule on an unwilling Hindu 
population, and the story of their destruction is fictitious.' 1 

The true conclusion is that the Rohilla war was clearly 
justified on ground!:> of public law and StaLe policy: 

Of public law, because the Rohillas provoked the war 
by their treachery and bad faith: 

Of State policy, because the war, unsought by us, availed 
to effect the statesmanlike purpose of Warren Hastings 
to erect a solid barrier against menace on our northern 
frontier: 

The barrier was erected, and the land had rest forty 
years.2 

\ India, by Sir John Strachey, G.C.S.l , p. I94. 
~ See Lyall, pp. 34, 35· 



CHAPTER III 

NUNCOOMAR 

THE a~cusation brought a~ain!,t Warren Hastings that 
he instigated the pr~secution of Nuncoorr..r for·forgery 
because that person had charged him befOlc the Council 
with corrupt practices is undoubtedly one of the gravest 
among the <;everal imputations on the character and honour 
of the Governor General. Macaulay, indeed, who was 
convinced of its truth, maintains that it should not be 
counted among what the E~say tel ms' hi" crimes', inasmuch 
as it was an act of self-defence, wh('o he wa.~ sore pressed 
by Nuncoomar'~ vindictive attack. How far a man can 
be justified in causing, directly 01 indirectly, the death of 
a fellow-creature in ordet to ~ave him~elf from ruin, ios 
a point of casubtry which it is not plOposed to argue. 
Wl;lat is Qroposed is to :"how demonstratively, in the en­
slJing page:", that the statement concerning Warren Hastings 
having instigated, or having had any hand in, the prosecu­
tion Qf NJIncoomar on the charge of forgery, is absolutely 
unsupported by evidence, and is in fact totally untrue. 

Soon after the close of the RohilJa War the Act of 
Parliament which altered the form of government in the 
Presidency of Bengal came into force. The administration 
of public affairs was by this Act entrusted to a new body 
which was to exercise an ultimat<> authol ity over the other 
Presidencies of Madras and Bombay, ~ which was to be 
composed of a ~ovemor-General and '-:>ur other members 
of Council. .Unfortlhlately the Govetnor-General was given 
very little· iooependent autho~itv and W~ in J:rutll onlv 



50 WARREN HASTINGS 

primus inter pares, so that he was liable to be overruled 
by any chance majority. It was to the political error thus 
committed. that much of the subsequent confusion and 

" quarrel is to" be attributed. Warren Hastings was named 
Governor-General cf Bengal, al'd General Clavering, Colonel 
Monson, and Mr. l)hilip Francis were three of the Coun­
cillors. The fourth was Mr. Banvell, an old and experienced 
official of the Company. -Clavering had becn appointed by 
the Ministry at home on accodnt of his powerful parlia­
mentary connexion; "Monson for some personal interest; 
Francis, who had been a clerk in the \Var Office, and was 
and is' :"uppO!ed to have 'Hittf'n 1 he famous 'Letters of 
Jzmius, for more or less occult reasons. Not one of the 
three had any acquaintance with, India or knew any native 
language. It is certain that in the disputes over public 
affairs which soon arose in the Council all the knowledge 
and experience was on one side, and all the ignora.nce and 
presumption on the other. 

Warren Hastings, at this time, had been for three years 
Governor of Bengal by nomination of the Directors of the 
Company, promoted to that position in consequence of the 
ability and resource which he had shown as member of 
the Council at Madras; and he had already signalized his 
administration by the vigour and success of his, measures. 
He hat: determined to do away with the double government 
established by Clive, had tal,cn thc collection of the reven~e 
into his own hands, had created throughout the, prolrinces 
Courts of Civil and Criminal Justice, with Courts of AppeaJ 
in the capital J, had organized a force of military police to 

1 This was a great work, and in itself enough to hand down the 
name of Warren Hastin\(s to posterity. In the Introduction to 
the State Paj'o s, p. x, Mr. Forrest says: 'It was impossible to place 
the revenue administration on a sound footing without a thorough 
reform in the <,dmin(stration of justice, and the first step Hastings 
took towards a,:com~lshing a reform was tli~ establishment of 
a Criminal and Civil Court in every district. The first consisted 
entirely of Mahomedans, Jnd the,latter of the principal, officers of the 
revenu~, as.i~ted ily the Judges of the Criminal Courts, and by 
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put down the bands of robbers which infested the country, 
and had thus introduced some approach (at any rate) to law 
and order in Bengal. Add to this that he had caused a digest 
of the Hindu law to be prepared by ten of the'most learned 
pundits, and that he carried. through a new assessment of 
the land revenue. Convinced that it was useless to maintain 
the fiction of the N'lwab's SQvereignty, he. removed the seat 
of government from Moorshedabid to Calcutta, and resolved 
that the Company should- stand fortp as the Ruler of the 
provinces of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa. Everyone now 
acknowle~ges that these were. wise and statesmanlike mea-

• stires; yet the man \WlO had achieved them·was made the 
object of bitter attack by his new colleagues. 

From the first week of their landing at Calcutta these 
three members of Council, Clavering, Monson, and Francis, 
took a violent line against the Governor-General. They 
began by denouncing the Rohilla War as impolitic and 

the most learned pundits (or professors of Hmdu law) in cases which 
depended on the peculiar usages or mstltutions of either faith.' These 
Courts were made dependent on two Supreme Courts which were 
established m the city of Calcutta, one for ultimate reference in 
capital cases. the other for appeals. To give the people confidence 
in the new Courts, and to enable the new tribunals to decide with 
certainty and dispatcp, Hastings caused a digest of the Hindu law 
to Je prep"red by ten of the most learned pundits in the province. 
lie writes to Lord Mansfield: 'This code they have written in their 
own language, the Sanscrit. A translation of It has begun under 
the mspectlon of one of their body into the Persian language. and 
from t~at i1ho English. The two first chapters I have now the honour 
to present to your Lordship with this, as a proof that the inhabitants 
of this land are not in the savage state in which they have been 
unfairly represented, and as a specimen of the principles which 
constitute the rights of property among them.' 

It may scarcely be credited that one of the steps taken by Clavering, 
Monson and Francis (described by Burke as the best administrators 
ever sent to India from England) was to abolish the District Courts 
and the police, and thus to throw back the pI,wince of Bengal into 
the lawlessness atd disorder from which ~arren Hastings had 
delivered it. These bencl1cial institution, were restored when the 
Governor-Get.eral repmed his nchtful authority in the ~oundl. 
See Gleig, Vol~ I, p. 263. 

E 2 
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unjust, though, new as they were to Indian affairs, they 
could have known little or nothing of the policy involved; 
and they demanded from Warren Hastings the produc­
tion of all his correspondence, public and private, with 
Mr. Middleton, the Resident tlt the Court of Oude. His 
private letters the Governor-General refused to give up, 
on the ground tltat it would be a brei-ch both of honour 
and of policy to do so. Be wrote to the Directors: 'My 
predecessors have ev&r followeJ the same rule, and I am 
persuaded would have thought it a dishonourable breach of 
confideqce had they inserted (jn the record" of th~Company 
any letter::; ",friLlI had been addre~~d to them as extra­
official and private, without the consent of the writers of 
them. Lord Clive, Mr. Verelst, Mr. Cartier, General Smith, 
and General Sir Robert Barker arc able to contradict me if 
I have misquoted their practice, and I shall be glad to 
a ppeal to them for the truth of it if thel C can be a doubt 
on the subject.' He al"o wrote to Lord North: 'Tlw 
immemorial usage of the service had left the whole Corre­
spondence with the country powers in the hand., of the 
Governor, and Mr. Middleton in that light could only 
receive his orders from and address his letters to me. 
In the cour!:>c of his correspondence I had encouraged 
him to "peak his sentiments freely under the assurance 
of their never becoming the subject of public record in 
cases wHch 1 jlldged improper for !>uch a communication. 
When therefore Mr. Monson moved for the whole !:>eing 
laid before the Board, I covld not consistently clt.her with 
honour or good feeling comply. I urged these reasons, but 
they were overruled, and Mr. Middleton was immediately 
called from his station, and thus a declaration made to all 
Hindustan that my authority was extinct, and that new 
men and new measures would henceforth prevail. I do not 
know what use my. opponents may make. of my refusal to 
show those letters. f I declare I have submitted every part 
to their perusal whicH was pecessary for theirdnformation 
on ptIblic ()<jffait"!;, and as to those J have withheld, yodr 
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Lordship will, I hope, one day judge of the propriety of 
my conduct in this respect, it being my intention, as soon 
as Mr. Middleton arrives, to collect my entire correspondence 
with him, and to offer it for your Lordship's inspection.' 

In consequence of the ref~sal to give up the letters, the 
three members, having the voting power in their hands, 
recalled Mr. Middleton, and directed Colonel Champion to 
conduct the negotiltions. They ordere" him to demand 
from the Vizier the imm~iate payment of the forty lacs 
due for the services of the troops in fhe Rohilla campaign, 
and of any other "urn owing to the Company. They also 
resolved tbat 'further.orders be sent to Colonel Caampion 
that after having finished the negotiations for the money 
now due, he do immediately withdraw the whole of the 
forces under his command within the limits of the province 
of Oude, and that unless the Vizier should require the 
continuance of the troop" for the defence of hi" original 
dominions, with the provinces of Korah and Allahabad, 
he return with them to the cantonments of Dinapore ',J 

Warren Hastings. who had vainly protested against these 
proceedings as alike impolitic and unjust, wrote to the 
Director..,: 'They have di..,regarded the faith of our engage­
ments which even in the mO'3t violent revolutions have ever 
been transmitted as .,acred from one Government to that 
which ha'3 "uccecded it; they have exposed the conquest 
which the Briti"h arms have dcquired for the Vizier to be 
wrestj!d f.om him, with the loss of our military reputation; 
they have risked the 10.<,,, of the pecur,iary resources which 
were stipulated for the Company as the fruits of their 
successes; and they have precipitately withdrawn the 
brigade from the station where its whole expense i<; 
borne by the Vizier to become again a heavy and useless 
bur<1~n upon ourselves '.2 

In addition to all this, the three ~s.aiIants went on to 
institute an inq~iry into the manner" which the war had 
been condqcted, hopbg thus to J~ure the reputation of 

• • 
1 State Paplfr's, Vol I, p. 122. 
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the Governor-General. It has been already shown in the 
preceding chapter that this design of theirs failed com­
pletely. The witnesses called before the hostile committee 
denied the allegations of plunder, desolation, fire and out­
rage, and described the then condition of Rohilcund as • being peaceful, prosperous, and contented. 

There can be no doubt that. the object of the majority 
was to supplant the Governor-General, to drive him from 
the country, and to obtain the I reversion of his office for 
one of themselves.1 '.it wac; with thh {'nd in view that they 
availed themselves of the aid of NUl1coomar to make an 
attack (1:1 W?~I:cn Hasting.,' nersullJ.l integrity. f' 

• c' 
The relations existing at thi'> time between the Governor-

General and Nuncoomar can hardly be understood without 
reference to previou~ tt ansactiom. Ai:, far back as 1762 
Warren Hastings had been employed by the Board t0 
make inquiry concerning some intercep'..C'd letters \\ hich 
proved to have been forged. His report thereon has bpen 
published for the first time in the Selection of State Papers 2, 

and the following extracts from it are imtructive. ' From 
several depositions and the circumstances herein pre:,ented 
the Board will judge on whom to fix the forgery of the 
letters in question .... I must give it as my opinion that 
it app("ars pretty clearly that there was a design on foot 
to compass the ruin of Ramchurn, that ~ubsequent thereto 
the letters forged in his name were intercepted, that the 
man to whose charge they were entru'>ted was a servant 

" I) 

of NUllcoomar, and that Suddel-Odin (a servant of Nun-
eoomar) did foretell the disgrace of Ramchurn, and was 
(by his cwn declaration afterwards) privy to the forgery 
of the letters. I say from these circumstances already 
proved, I am of opin ;on that the letter~ were written and 
intercepted by the contrivance and direction of Nuncoomar, 
in order to fix the charge of a traitorous correspondence on 
Ramchum.' 

1 Lya]l, p. ~3. II Vol. III, belere'Index. 
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Again, when Warren Hastings was named Governor by 

the Directors of the Company, Nuncoomar sent letters 
to him while he was still in Madras, in the names of the 
Nawab's uncle and of the Munny Begum, the widow of 
the Meer Jaffier to whom Clive had given the throne 
of Bengal. These letters w~re filled with invective against 
Mahomed Reza Khan, then head of the native administra­
tion, and with rec!ommendatioll of N Wlcoomar, who no 
doubt felt confident thaJ" he would supersede hh rival, 
and obtain the post. Warren Hastiags, after his arrival in 
Calcutta, found that the Munny Begum had no knowledge 
of this ~rrespondence, and 5he declared that tl1e letter 
purporting to be written by her and bearing her seal was 
a forgery. 

Shortly after this Mahomed Reza Khan was, by express 
order of the Secret Committee, arrested on a charge of 
peculation. Nuncoomar wa:, active in pressing this charge, 
and doubtless looked for hi.., reward. After a protracted 
investigation, however, Reza Khan was acquitted, and set 
at liberty by the Governor himself. But his office wa.':; 
abolished in pursuance of the policy resolved on of doing 
away with the double government and placing the direct 
administration in the hand5 of the Company's officials. 
This was a bitter ni:,appointment to N uncoomar who had 
planned and plotted for hi:, own elevation. 'It was natural', 
says Macaulay, 'that the Governor :,hould be from that 
time an object of the m05t inten~e hatred to the vindictive 
B 

t .• , 
rahmll1. 
But in truth the animosity of N uncoomar dated long 

before. Warren Hastings wrote to the Directors, 'From 
the year 1759 to the time when I left Bengal in 1764, 
I was engaged in a continued oppoo.ition to the interests 
and designs of that man, because I judged him to be 
adverse to the welfare of my employers; and in the course 
of this contention I received SUffi~l~t indications of his 
ill-will to have made me an irreco~ci1~able enemy if I could 
suffer my passions to supe~ede the du!y which ! owe to 



WARREN HASTINGS 

the Company.' 1 This was written in answer to the sugges­
tion of the Directors that Nuncoomar should be rewarded 
for the services he rendered in the prosecution of Reza 
Khan; which suggestion was adopted by the Governor 
when, after appointing the Munny Begum to be super­
intendent of the young Nawab's household and guardian 
of his person, he nominated Rajah Goordas, the son of 
Nuncoomar, to ac;r.ist her as manager.' Sir Alfred Lyall 
speaks with surprise of thi~ norn.\nation of the son, looking 
to the evil character of the fathel, and says: 'It is hard 
to understand how Hastings could have been induced to 
adopt t~ctics that wele neither clever nor ptrticularly 
creditable.' 2 We may 1 '1 esume that' Sll Alfred Lyall is 
nUL aware that the Governor was acting undel the counsel 
of the DirectOls, who wi~hed him to dirpctly employ 
Nuncoomar. This he would not do, thinking the man 
too dangerous, but in an accommodating "pmt he gave 
a valuable office to the innocent aml rcspu tahle son. 
The Court of Directors c"ple~sed thcil apPlOval of his 
conduct in this particular, and also of hi::- choice of the 
Begum as guardian to the N awab. But It is true that the 
appointment of Rajah Goordas did not placate N uncoomar, 
who noun~hed his hate and waited hi" OppOl tunity for 
revenge; nor did Burke'.; boasted chivalry plevent him, 
in after yearc;, from making the choice of the Begum one 
of his <.ccusation ... against Warren Hastmgs, applying to 
that lady, who had been the wife or one Na~ab and 
the guardian of ;;.nother, telln" 01 almo'>t fClOcioub abuse. 
Such wele the amenities with which the impe,ichment of 
Warren Ha~ti'1gs was conducted! 

On March II, 177.), Francis informed the Board that 
he had thclt morning received a visit flam the Rajah 
Nuncoomar, who delivered to him a letter addressed to 
the Governor and Council, and demanded that it should 
be laid before the :B0/rd. Francis dec1aret: that he was 
unacquainted w;th th~ cnntpots of this Jetter. 

1 Gleig, Vol. I, p. 262. 2 Lyall, p. 3~. 
•• f 
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Nuncoomar stated therein his services to the Company, 

how he had faithfully administered the affairs of Bengal 
under Meer Jaffier, but had been deprived of his office by 
certain Englishmen who 'for views of private advantage 
had raised Mahomed Reza Khan to the post'; how Reza 
Khan (who had been, it r!lust be remembered, tried and 
acquitted) had desolated the whole country by his op­
pressions and peoolations, as was well Jmown to all; how 
Reza Khan had offere~, through NlIncoomar, ten lacs 
to the Governor, who refused t4em; how soon after, 
Mr. Hastings ~et Reza Khan at liberty, and entirely 
dropped" the inquiry into his embezzlements Jilld mal­
practices; 'how thi~ extraordinary favour .:'as so suudenly 
shown the Governor can best a~sign the reasons'; hoY' 
'the motivc~ of these proceedings will best be understood 
fi'om Mr. Ha~ting<; himself'; how, 'to offer a more par­
ticular and circumstantial statement of facts,' at various 
times in the year 1772 Warren Hastings had received the 
.sum of three lacs and 54,000 rupees from himself and 
the Munny Begum' for procuring Rajah Goordas' appoint­
ment and cau.sing MlInny Begum to be made the superior 
of the family '.1 Of this letter Lord Thurlow truly said 
that 'a more extraordinary or a more insolent production 
never appeared, nor one which carried falsehood on the 
face of it more strongly'. Yet thi.s was the evidence on 
which the three hostile members of Council grounded their 
charge of malversation against the Governor-General. 

WhetJ. the letter had been read, VV' arren Hastings, referring 
to the statement of Francis that he had been unacquainted 
with its contents, a'>ked whether he (Francis) had been 
before acquainted with Nuncoomar's intention of bringing 
such charges. The answer of Francis was rather peculiar: 
, As a member of this Council I de not deem myself bound 
tv answer questions of mere curiosity. I am willing, 
howevp.r, to inform the Governor-Gt4!e"ral that I was totally 
unacquainted with the contents of "the paper I have now • 

I Stat.: Papers, \'01. II, p. 300 et seq. 
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delivered to the Board till I heard it rcad. I did apprehend 
in general that it contained some charge against him.' 
Francis, it may be observed, could hardly have failed to 
know the nature of the charges, for N uncoomar had been 
already in private and intimate CUilJlllunic.ation with Momon. 

On the 13th of March a secon~ lettcI flOm N uncoomar to 
the Boa!d was received arid reud. In this he reiterated 
his previous statem~nts, declared that he had' the strongest 
written vouchers to plOduce in SifPPOlt', and asked leave 
to appear befOIc the /;ouncil to pstablIsh the accusation 
, by an additional incontestable eVIdence', Mon~on imme­
diately 1ll0ved 'that Raph N unroomar be calle~ before 
the Boald '. .. 

Thc Governor-General at (lllCe \Hote a \ 19orous Minute, 
declaring that he would not ~uffel Nuncoomar to appear 
before the Board as his accu'>cr. 'I kuO\\ what belong" 
to the dignity and charactcr of this Admini!>tl ation I will 
not sit at thi~ BOard in tile characte! 0' d. CI lminal, nOl 
do I acknowledge the mernbelt. of the Boa!d to be my 
judges. I am induced on this occa~ion to make tht­
declaration that I look upon Genelal Clavering, Colonel 
Monson, and Mr. Francis as my accuscrs, I cannot press 
this in the dilect letter of thc law, but in my conscience 
I regard them as such, and I will give my reasons for it: 
He pointed out that 'it was not the duty belonging to 
a Councillor of State to make hlm'>elf thc carrier of a letter 
which would have been much mal e properly commItted 
to the hands of a peon, or delivered by the wri1cr'of it' to 
the SeCletary, Hc observed on thc acknowledgement of 
Francis 'hat he knew the Jette! contained a charge. He 
added that he had him!>elf been shown a paper containing 
many accu'>ations against him, which he was told had been 
carried by Nuncoom'lr to Monson, and that Nuncoomar 
was employed for some hours in private with Monson, 
explaining the natu~e~of these charge!> 1, '!He ended by 

to ... 

1 Monson attempted to dei'Y thiS by saymg that he never heard 
or saw any.paper In Persldn or other\1ative Idnl.:'Uaf<e which contained 



NUNCOOMAR 59 
stating his inflexible determination not to suffer the indignity 
of allowing N uncoomar to accuse him before the Council. 
'The chief of this Administration, your superior, gentlemen, 
appointed by the Legislature itself, shall I sit at this Board 
to be arraigned in the presence of a wretch whom you 
all know to be one of the basest of mankind? Shall 
I sit to hear men collected from the dregs of the people 
give evidence at· his dictation agains. my character and 
conduct? I will not.. You may, if you please, form 
yourselves into a committee for t'he investigation of these 
matters, in any manner which you may think proper, but 
I repeat that I will not meet N uncoomal~at t~is Board, 
1101' suffer N uncoo~ar to be examined at the Board, nor 
have you a right to it, nor can it serve any othpl' purpose 
than that of vilifying and insulting me:: 1 

Nevertheless the majority, disregarding this protest, 
carried a resolution that Nuncoomar be called before the 
Board, whereupon the Governor-General declared the 
Council dissolved, and protested that anything done during 
his absence would be illegal and uml arranted. He and 
Barwell then left the room. 

Clavering was thereupon voted to the chair by his two 
colleagues, N uncoomar wa" called in and \\ a!:. desired to 
deliver to the ROdld what he had to say in support of 
his charge against the Governor-General. After declaring 
that his reputation had been hurt by the Governor receiving 
into his presence J uggut Chund and Mohun Persaud, two 
person~ of low repute, and refusing admission to him, 
Nuncoomar said: 'Everything is contained in the letter 
which I have given in, besides which I have papers which, 
if the Board orders me, I will deliver up.' He then handed 
in the translation of what purported to be a letter from 

accusations against the Governor-General. But Sir James Stephen 
points out thatJ\1onson thus admlts a cOIlv..:rsation with Nuncoomar, 
and does not deny that he mIght hav:. seen or heard something 
in English. 

1 State p'ajJers, Vol. II, p. 3~. 
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Munny Begum, dated September 2, 1772. In it the Begum 
states that in gratitude for her advancement to the Nizamut 
she offered Mr. Hastings a present of a lac of rupees. 
Mr. Hastings refused, but when ~he pressed the matter he 
said that N uncoomar had promiscd two lacs. 'I guessed, 
my friend, that this t~ 0 lacs w~s a part of the three lacs 
about which I wrote to you in a lettcr I despatched with 
Kaim Beg, and o~ which I sent you "Word by Juggut 
Chund.' 1 The Begum proceeds V> state that she feared 
if she said anything abDtlt the matter 'all tha t your kind­
ness had done for me would be cntirely destroyed and 
lose its effcct " .. She therefore sent word to the C:overnor 
that she had given Nuncoomar a ge~elal authority 'to 
do whatever "as judged rcqui~ltc and expedicnt for my 
advancement and the fooling of my enemies', and that 
~hc considered herselftound to di~chalge what Nuncoomar 
promj~ed. 'I thcrefore begged that he would accept one 
Jac of rupees here and told him that I would draw upon 
you for the othcr lac which I would deliver to him at 
Calcutta. I was so fortunate to mcet \\ ith the Governor's 
concurrence in thi~ propo~al. Your intcrest and mine are 
the ~ame, and we arc partner~ of cach other's prosperity 
and adver~ity. Presuming upon this, I rcquest that you 
will lend me upon honour the sum of one lac of rupees, 
which you will be kind enough to pay to the Governor 
when he returns to Calcutta. I am rai;,ing OIlC lac of 
rupee,> which I shall here present to i:ht Governor, and 
t.hall repay the sum with which I depend upon ) o~ sup­
plying me in a few days by the mean~ of Rajah Goordas. 
I earnest!/ intreat that you will not upon this occasion 
entertain any doubt of mc.' 2 The lettcr clo;,cs with a strong 
injunction to secrecy. 

1 Sir James Stephen remarks: 'ThIs allusIOn was not explained 
by Nuncoomar, nor did he produce any letter as being the one 
referred to.' Nor, it may b~~dded, did anyone of the.three members 
of Council ask a question .t.mr"rning It. See Story rif Nuncoomar, 
by Sir James Stephen. 

2 State Pepers1. Vol. V, p. 30 9. 
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Sir James Stephen, commenting on this letter, says: 
'The only questions put to N uncoomar by the Council 
were either trivial or were questions which he must have 
suggested himself, though if they had allowed themselves 
time to study the letter s~d to be written by the Begum, 
and to compare it with the written accusation of Nun­
coomar, the Council must have perceived that on several 
points there was urgent need for inquir:9'. The story told in 
the letter does not on title face of it agree with the charge 
made by Nuncoomar. Nuncoonhr said he had given 
HastIng.<; in gold J04,I05 rupees, and that the Munny 
Begum had given ltim at Moorshedabad. laq and had 
caused Nur Singh to pay him a lac and a half more, 
making in all 354,104 rupees. The letter says that the 
Munny Begum was to pay two lacs, and that she was 
raising one lac to pay it to Hastings at Moorshedabad, 
and it begs Nuncoomar to pay the other lac to Hastings 
at Calcutta, and promises to repay him .... Apart from 
this the majority of the Council did not observe the most 
obvious and common precautions. They took no steps 
to ascertain the authenticity of the letter attributed to 
the Munny Begum beyond comparing the inscriptions on 
two seals. They did not even impound the alleged original, 
but returned it 10 N uncoomar.' 1 

It is observed in the Introduction to the State Papers: 
The Board did not cross-examine Nuncoomar as to the 
tillle ~d place where the gold was delivered, the persons 
from whom he got so large a sum, the books in which 
he had made entries about it, the place and time of his 
alleged conversation with Hasting~ on the subject, or any 
of the other obvious matters by which his truthfulness 
might be justified.2 

The three members of the Council, acting by themselves, 
had however fO hesitation in rcsolv\ng, on the sole evidence 
of Nuncoomar, that the sums na 'ed by him had been 

1 Stephen, p. ,8 et s~. 
, Statl! Papef'"s, Introd., p. xljXviii. 
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paid to the Governor-General, and that he (Hastings) be 
requested to pay them into the Company's treasury. More­
over, it was ordered that the proceedings of the Council and 
all the papers relating thereto should be sent to London, 
that the Company might file <\- bill against Hastings and 
recover the money. But the only rcsuh of this move was 
that the law-officers of the Company, when the papers were 
submitted to them; declared that the information of Nun­
coomar, even upon the ex parte ca~ before them, could not 
possibly be true. It ·would hav(; been difficult for any 
other opinion to have been arrived at by men trjined to 
deal with- evi~ncc, or indeed by aJty men, lawyers or 
other, acclIc;t 0!Ylcd to U"t- tll'?;r common sense in judging 
of facts before them. 

Yet Burke afterwards asked: 'If therefore Rajah N un­
coomar was a man equal in rank according to the idea 
of the country in which he lived to any peer in the I louse, 
as sacred as a bishop, of as much grav'ity and authority as 
a judge, and who was prime mini,ter in the country in 
which he lived, with what face can 1\1r. Hastings call this 
man a wretch, and say that he will not suffer him to be 
brought before him?' The preceding pages, it is submitted, 
have given reasons enough why the Governor-General should 
have refused to be charged at his 0\\'11 Council by a man who 
had been proved to have forged letters with the villainous 
purpose of ruining an innocent person, a man whose character 
was so infamous that the appointment of his SOil to ~ public 
office wat objected to in the Council on the ground of the 
baseness of his father. 

The rhetorical utterance of Burke may be taken as a 
tolerably hir sample of the style which distinguished his 
impeachment oratory. But what amazes us is that the 
three members of Cou'1cil should have thought it within 
the bounds of reason O[ of decency, acting on the evidence 
of a confessed accomplj,'.!, of a miscreant kllofvn as such to 
the whole community, native and European, among whom 
he lived, tp cOlldemJl their own ~uperior officer, the head of 
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the administration under which they served, thf' statesman 
chosen by Parliament, named by statute as Governor­
General, and known, as his past services and his daily 
exertions proved,l to be the most able, the most accom­
plished and by far the 11lPst experienced, of all Anglo­
Indian officials. The malignity and insolence of such a 
proceeding were, perhaps, even surpassed by its folly. 

The truth is that such a line of c~nduct would seem 
incredible were it not fdt the irrefragable testimony borne 
by the Minutes of Council at this jutcture. Many of these 
entrie" ilP-ve never been before the public, and space prevents 
complete quotation 4erc. But as samples it.-ay},e pointed 
out that these gentlemen stated in one Minute' there is no 
form of peculation from which the honourable Governor­
General has thought it reasonable to abstain '. In another 
they observed that N uncoomar's discoveries explained how 
the Governol-General had ama;,sed .£400,000, 'which he is 
said to possess,' in two and a half years. This of the man 
who, having formerly served during a period of almost 
unexampled corruption, had passpd through it admittedly 
with clean hands, and had returned to England in 1764 
with no more than a modest competence, when so many 
had come home with large fOI tunes. Such \\ ild accusations 
compel the belief that nothing "hart of a covert conspiracy 
existed to drive Warren Hastings from office by any means 
available, whether fair or unfair, open or underhand. Such 
see!l1~ 1iP be the opinion of Sir Alfred LyaU.2 

1 Macaulay points out that even at this Juncture Warren Hastings 
'continued to take the lead at the Council Board in the transaction 
of ordinary business; for hiS opponents could not but feel that he 
knew much of which they were ignon .. nt, and that he decided, both 
surely and speedily, many questions '\\hich to them would have been 
hopelessly puzzling.'-Essay. 

2 'It could never have been the intention of the English Ministry 
or the Court of4Dircctors, when they ap60inted Hastings by name 
in the statute as Governor-General, and pl~scribed unity and concord 
a~ the primary condi1ion of su("cess, t:.at the first use to be made 
of these powers should be an attempt by his colleagues to prosecute 

• 
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Throughout these trying scenes of insult and defamation 
the Governor-General preserved a rare self-control which 
often baffled, though it could not disarm, his persecutors. 
It was a patience which proved at once his strength of 
mind and his conscious innoc~ce. But his written com­
munications with the Directors of the Company show his 
sense of the monstrous injustice that was done. In a letter 
to the Directors da ed February zz, 1775: enclosing answers 
to a Minute written by Claverirtg, Monson, and Francis, 
'a performance of so virulent a nature, I confess I scarce 
find myself equal to a reply,' he says: 'Were th{j. charges 
contained ~n ~ against me explicit ilnd direct, I might 
quote your records. I might appeal t.o facts . in refutation 
of them, but d,ark allusions, mysterious insinuations, bitter 
invective and ironical reflections are weapons to which 
I have been but little accustomed before the formation 
of the present Council, and I am equally unacquainted 
with the arms by w4ich I am to defend myself against 
them. I have been often engaged in contests at this 
Board from the year 1760 to this time, and have been 
too frequently compelled to fill many pages of your records 
with controversial discussions, but I dare boast that there 
is not a passage, nor even a word in any of them, intended 
to cast an oblique reflection on any man, nor an allegation 
not openly stated and supported by proofs or circumstances 
which in my conscience I believe to amount to proofs. 
The rule which I observe to others I require for myself, 
and in this instance I require no more than common 
justice.' 1 

And the concluding sentence of his dispatch, commenting 
on and replying to the accusations of his opponents, runs 
as follows: 'My situation is truly painful and mortifying, 
deprived of the powers wii:h which I have been invested 
by a solemn Act of t~e Legislature, ratifying your choic'e 

. - . 
him publicly, to annul h powers, and degrade .his office.'-Lyall, 
p. 63· ~ i 

1 State IJafJ"l, Vol\lII, p. 267. 
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nrs'[ ' mncc in ,·~·.Adtn~tiQ .. ~; 
(iueto tt»"-statidtl '.&W- l!hal1~i 

. ·or pe1'SOnal~i~ility l.iy~";_ ~jth 
.e.Q.p~Ui;M. 1;o~teiA:,the d¥ty~i;q. 

and _nd'e~ndtt() ~ear my. sh~ itl.··ftt~ 
res.pQl~liiI~mty of.~ures which 18.0 not appr.ove.,,! 4houfd, 

. yielded up . my place in thiS'1Jllsgra~£u1 
GB1['fi()l my ideas of my duty to y.o\( and a' cbnfidence 

Y"""""J~~~"'" animateme.to persevere; and if ybur reqords 
$c)nourc~d and your interests suspended by the 

cont ~uch colltes41 as have hitherto composed the 
business of y.' es!!nt Council, it shall be,..m)l'.care to 
bear as small. In them as possible, making the line .of 
my duty,uemiJ1 from every personal consideratiOl\ in this, 
as in ever}" other concern incident to my station, the sole 
guide of my conduct if 1 can,' 1 

Soon after the open quarrel in the Council over Nun­
coomar's'accusation, a circumstance occurred which, thollgh 
n.ot very important in itself, throws a noticeable Jigbt on 
the character and conduct of that virulent accuser on the 
-one hand, -and of Warren Hastings on the other. On the 
19th of April one Kamal-u-din had gone to the Governor­
General and complained that Nuncoomar and a Mr. F.owke 
had compeiieD him by threats to sign a petition stating that 
he had bribed Hastings and Barwell, and had also~rced 
him t.o acknowledge the correctness of " .. certainaccOunt .• 
The G.mor-General referred Kamal-u-<liit to the Chid' • ]ustice,and Sir Elijah Impeyand the other Judges, acting 
in the ~apadty of Justices .of the Peace (as the Judges of 
the Su~me C.ourt did at that time) summoned the partiC$ 
f:!,lld ·lId·· an examination of the witnesses and defendants, T_ then asked Hastings and Barwell if they meanttQ 
ptc)~te; On their determining to do so. FflitYke, N\in­
ec:)omar, and a nati"e called Radach\Vn, were committed 
tQ.trial forc.otlspfr-acy audadmitted to t.dl. At the Assite$ 
.av .... the defendants wereacquiited tf the charge of con-

Slaie Papers, Vol. II, p. 279 
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spiracy against Hastings, Radachurn was acquitted and 
Nuncoomar and Fowke were convicted of conspiracy against 
Barwell. Fowke 1 was fined fifty rupees. No sentence was 
passed on Nuncoomar because he was then lyi~g in the 
common gaol under sentence (If neath for forgery. 

Now when Nuncoomar was before the Council, having 
handed in the alleged letter of the Munny Begum, and 
answered some qttestions put to him, he was asked if he 
had any more papets to prodtce. He replied, 'I have 
no more papers.' Possibly he thought that something 
more might help bim. and :l short time after he was 
extortl" b l!/ threats from Kamal-~-din a petition to the 
Council stating that he (Kamal-u-din) had bribed Hastings 
and Barwell. The equal of peers, bishops, and judges was 
busy at hi~ accustomed work. 

On the other h,md, the prompt;tude and fearlessness which 
Warren Hastings showed in at once referring Kamal-u-din 
to the Judges, and at once resolving to prosecute, were in 
themselves proofs that he had no intention, as he had no 
need, to instigate proceedings against Nuncoomar covertly. 
What he did he did openly; courage in action was the 
characteristic of the man. 

It is rather significant that Macaulay makes no mention 
of this charge of conspiracy. llossibly he thought that to 
notice it might destroy the dramatic ('[feet of his narrative, 
in wbi.:;h he tells us that-' On a sudden Calcutta was 
astounaed by the news that N uncoomar had 'f.,een taken 
up on a charge of felony, committed, and thrown into 
the common gaol. The crime imputed to him was that. 
six years before he had forged a bond. The ostensible 
prosecutor was a native. But it was then, and still is, the 
opinion of everybody, irliots and biographers excepted, that 
Hastings w~s the real mover in the business.' When this 
committal (of which an account will imm~iately be given) 
took place, N unC00mar was already, with others, under 

1 It was probably considered ~ the Court that Fowke was a mere 
tool. 



NUNCOOMAR 

a charge of conspiracy and about to be tried for it, as was 
of course well known to the whole community of Calcutta. 
It was also well known that Hastings and Barwell were 
prosecutors in the case, and it is hardly credible that 
any astoundment could ha~ been caused by the arrest 
of Nuncoomar, well known as an adept at forgery, on 
a further charge for that offence. The history of the 
charge is as follows:-

It will be remembere~ that Nupcoornar prefaced his 
accusation before the Board by declaring that his reputation 
had been hurt by the admission of Mohun Persaud to the 
presence of the GovePlor-General,l while he (~tr.:.'£oomar) 
was refused admittance. This Mohun Persaud was attorney 
to a certain Bolakee Dass, a native banker, who had died 
in 1769. On the settlement of his affairs a few months 
afterwards Nuncoomar produced a bond signed, or supposed 
to have beep signed, by Bolakee Dass, purporting ~o be 
the acknowledgement of a debt (.lac to Nuncoomar, and 
this bond was settled by the executors. On the <tmount 
'being paid, N uncoomar cancelled the bond by tearing it 
downwards at the top for a c;oup.le of inches. This docu­
ment and others relating to the deceased banker were 
lodged in the Mayor's Court at Calcutta as a Court of 
Record. In the year J 772 a suit was instituted against 
NU\:lcoomar for more than a lac of rupees said to be due 
to the estate of the banker on account of bpnds of the .. 
Company. The Court recommended that the case should 
be referred to arbitration, but this Nuncoomar refused at 
first,' and when he consented a dIspute arose as to the 
arbitration. These facts explain the six years' delay. 
Matters were in this position when the whole legal and 
judicial state of things was altered by the arrival of the 

1 Why waS this stated to the Council? It could have no bearing 
on the charge a~nst the Govemor-GeIlt-ral. But was it that 
Nuncoomar, with his evil conscien<.e, suspected that Mohun Persaud 
was stirring about the forged bone, and was uneasy as to what was 
going to happen? 
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Supreme Court of Judicature, created by statute, at Calcutta. 
About a month after its arrival Mr. Farrer, who had landed 
about the same tirrH' 3nd had been admitted as an advocate 
of the Supreme Court, was informed by Mr. Driver, an 
attorney, that he had advi;,ed il- client to institute a criminal 
prosecution against N uncoomar for forgery, and that his 
client had agreed to the advice. There was, however, an 
obstacle in their way. The original papt!"s, without which 
the forgery could not be cstabHDhed, were lodged in the 

I 

Mayor's Court, and though the Court were willing to 
grant copies, the originals could not be obtained. ' He 
tu1u m~ :::~ed Ml. FatrCl, 'that l~e Mayor's Court had 
not been so entirely free from influence a,> could be wished 
when proceeding ag2.in;,t men of a certain de:,cription, such 
as Nuncoomar, but that, now that a more independent 
Court wa;, come out, he should advise hi~ client, Mohun 
Persaud, to authorize him (Driver) to imtruct me to make 
the same motion before the Supreme Court of Judicature. 
to wit for the original papers, that he had him;,elf made 
before without effect in the Mayor's Court.' Mr. Farrer 
accordingly moved the Court for the papers six weeks before 
Nuncoomar's accusation was produced before the Board by 
Francb, and was obliged to repeat his application twice 
before he obtained them Soon after this, on May 6, 177$, 
Nuncoomar was charged with forgery hefore Mr. Justice 
Le Maistre, whu happened to be the sitting magistrate, 
as at tLat time (as already mentioned) the Judvcs of the 
Suprclm. Court were also the Justices of the Peace. ' He 
requested the assistance of Mr. Justice Hyde, who attended 
with him the whole day upon the examination which 
lasted from nine in the morning till near ten at night; 
when, no doubt of his guilt lemaining in the heart of 
either of us upon the evidence on the part of the Crown, 
a commitment in the. usual form was made out.' 1 

It is submitted that the history give~ above of the 
committal of N uncoomar on tpe charge of forgery absolutely 

1 SC!~ State Papers, Introd., pp. xli, xhi. 
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demolishes the statement, made with such confidence by 
Macaulay, that Warren Hastings was the mover in the 
business. In the first place, while it is true that the crime 
charged was six years old, it is also true that the delay 
in the prosecution was due to the fact that Bolakee Dass 
himself was dead, and that ~is executors had believed the 
bond presented to them to be genuine; the discovery of 
the forgery grew out of the civil suit instituted in 1772, 
and proceedings thereuFon were long delayed by the 
difficulty of obtaining the original b'bnd from the Mayor's 
Court: as soon as M.ohun Persaud obtained that document 
the prosecution was commenced.1 In the s~ll,d place, 
if Farrer's account ts to be believed, it was impossible 
that Warren Hastings could have had any hand in the 
matter, for there was no motive for his moving in it 
before Nuncoomar charged him with corruption in the 
face of the Council, and that charge was not made till 
six weeks after Farrer moved the Supreme Court for the 
papers. h it credible that Farrer was mistaken? He 
was a counsel of reputation, he was Nuncoomar's advocate 
at the trial and did his best tor hi~ client; and to ~uppose 
that his memory could be at fault about such a man and 
such a case is to suggest the impo~sib1e. Warren Hastings 
himself stated: 'I have declared on mth before the Supreme 
Court of Justice that I neither advised nor encouraged the 
prosecution of Maharajah Nuncoomar. It would have ill 
become the first magistrate in the Settlement to have em-• 

) Sir Alfred Lyall says (p. 66), 'the alleged forgery arose out of 
a transaction of thirteen years before, and the fact, if true, must have 
been long known to the complainant.' This is a misconception. 
The 'thirteen years' is impossIble, for Holakee Dass died in 1769, 
and as Mohun Persaud was his attorney, and no doubt advised the 
executors, they would not have paid the bond if he had then known 
of the forgery. The facts most probably came to his knowledge 
during the civil suit begun in 1772, and )t~s shown in the text that 
as soon as Mohun Persaud got holJ of the original papers he moved 
at once in the pr(";!ecutkm. Th, crime itself could not have been 
more than six vc;ars old. 
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ployed his influence either to promote or dissuade it.' 
Macaulay, we must presume, cho'ic to dbbelieve this solemn 
assertion; but an impartial reader, with the full facts before 
him, can hardly fail to see its truth. It is clear enough 
that 'idiots and biographers' were right, and that the 
brilliant essayist who could not stoop to verify his facts 
was wrong. 

On the committal of N uncoomar by the Judges the 
majority in the Council at onc~ and ostentatiously took 
sides with him. He' petitioned the Council to interfere, 
alleging that he could not perform the offices of hi~ religion 
and C0l1,W .:~t cat in tIll' plarc where ~e was confined. The 
Governor-General then.upon remarked that he was doubtful 
of the correctness of thc ~tatcmcnt, but that he had already 
ordered some Pundits to attend the Judges and to give 
their opinion~. It turned out that thc'>c Pundit>. did not 
confirm Nuncoomar. but c''l)fcs::.eu an opinion fhat it was 
much more difficult for a Brahmin to lo~c castc than he 
seemed to suppose. N evel thcJe~., the majority insi5ted 
on sending for the Sheriff to know on whose authority 
he had imprisoned Nuncoomar. In this rather foolish 
inquiry the warrant of commitment signed by two of the 
Judges was of coursc produccd. \Vhen Colonel Monson, 
in strange ignorance, inquired why the Sheriff had imprisoned 
Nuncoomar in the common gaol. thc opinion of the Chief 
Justice and the two committing Judg-es was >.hOWll to justify 
the course pursued. Thc majority still persisted and ad­
dressed the Chief JU5tice. but Sir Elijah Impcy returned 
a firm and well-worded refusal to intcrfere, in which he 
alluded to a report spread in Calcutta, that an attempt 
would be made to relea~e N uncoomar by force. According 
to Macaulay, indee.1, Clavering swore that Nuncoomar 
should, if necessary, be rescued by force even at the foot 
of the scaffold. Bu~ this may be taken as one of the 
many embellishmenB with which the famous essay was 
enriched. Clavering, Monson and Francis, all three made 
an affidrvit, whic" was sworn before the Governor-General. 
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denying that any such intention was known to anyone 
of them; and there can be no reason to suggest that 
Clavering signed his name to a deliberate falsehood.} All 
that can be said with certainty is that at this stage of 
the proceedings the majority in the Council (always opposed 
by Hastings and Barwell, w~ stood up for the independence 
of the Judicature and the respect due to the Bench) did 
endeavour, even to the extent of indecency, to interfere 
with the authority of the Court, and were repelled with 
dignity and effect by the Judges. • 

The trial of N un~oomar began on the 8th of June and 
continued for no less than seven days. Macaulay, in his 
usual haphazard wa'f, say!:. that it took plaL?"D~fore Sir 
Elijah Impey and a jury composed of Englishmen. This 
statement is in itself sufficient to prove that he had never 
taken the trouble to read the report of the trial. N un­
coo mar was tried before a Bench of four Judges, the Chief 
Justice, Mr. Justice Chambero" Mr. Justice Le Maistre, and 
Mr. Justice Hyde. The jury was composed of European 
(not all necessarily Engli:,h) inhabitants of Calcutta, some 
of whom haL! been long resident therein, and some born 
there. Durham was coun",el for the Crown, and Farrer 
(described on authority as the able~t advocate at the Bar) 
appeared for the defendant. A verdict of guilty was 
returned, and Nuncoomar was sentenced to death. Farrer, 
on return of the verdict, had made a motion for arrest 
of judgement, which was refused by the full Court. A 
petition efor leave to appeal was also presented, but it was 
rejected on the ground that it did not contain any specific 
reasons why an appeal should be allowed. An effort was 
made to obtain the signatures of the jury to a prayer for 
respite, but only one juryman could be persuaded to sign. 
Lastly, Farrer wrote a petition to the Governor-General 
in Council, to be signed by N uncoomar, in the hope that 
this petition might be endorsed bj the Council and for­
warded to the Court. But the three members of the 

1 A facsimile f'f this affidavit "ill be found in Stale Papers, Vol.!. . -
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majority had now altered their tone. Whether the evidence 
given at the trial had caused them to change their opinion, 
whether they thought they had gone too far in their 
insolence towards the Supreme Court, or whether they 
perceived that the bulk of the community, European and 
Native, were against them, it 'would be impossible to say. 
Certain it is that they declined to aid N uncoomar any 
further. When his petition was presented to the Council 
they refused to entertain it, Clav<tring a"signing as a reason 
'that it had no relatron whatever to the public concerns 
of the country, which alone he was $ent out to transact, 
and that he would not make allY application in favour of -a man who hacl heen b1l11l1 gu;lty oi forgery; nor indeed 
did he think that it would do allY good: N uncoomar 
also sent a pathetic Jetter to Francis playing him to 
procure a respite till the King's pleasure could be known. 
But Francis, who, to aid his own malignity against the 
Governor-Gener,d, had been willing te bach. N uncoomar 
as accuser, though a~surcdly knowing his evil character, 
now turned a deaf car and left the suppliant to his fate. 
On August 8, 1775, Nuncoomar was hanged. 

It is probable that the account given by Macaulay of 
the horror and con~teruation caused by the execution is 
much exaggerated. The Hindoos of Bengal had been too 
lung under the rule of their Mahomedan conquerors to be 
greatly affected by the "ight of a high-ca"te Brahmin being 
put to death. But no doubt there \~as a stron!? feeling 
that the sentence was severe, and that at any rate a respite 
ought to have been granted. In this feeling most person" 
will now concur. N uncoomar was a very bad man j pos­
sibly the worst of his race in that generation.1 He had 

I Macaulay says of Nuncoomar: 'The Company's servants had 
repeatedly detected him in the most criminal intrigues. On one 
occasion he brought a false charge against another Hindoo, and tried 
to substantiate it by pro~ucing forged document~. On another 
occasion it was. dIscovered that while professing the wannest attach­
ment to the EnglIsh, he was engagef in several conspiracies against 
them, and jn particular that he was the medium of a correspondence 
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been the prompter of a villainous conspiracy to bring about 
the ruin and death of a fellow countryman by forging 
treasonable letters in his name, and contriving that these 
should be discovered. A native historian of reputation 
states that in Nuncoomar's drawers, after his death, were 
discovered copies of the s;als of rich merchants and other 
notables of Bengal, available for his nefarious practices. 
It is certain that he forged the letter, alleged to be from 
the Munny Begum, which he sent to Warren Hastings in 
Madras. It is just as certain, tho'tJgh Macaulay, without 
giving any reason, lried to throw doubt on the fact, that he 
also forged the letter, alleged to be from the %Gum, which 
he produced before'the Council. The Munny Begum, on 
hearing of the charge against the Governor-General, declared 
that the writing and the seal were forgeries. For saying 
this 'She was iniquitously deprived, by the majority of the 
Council, of her guatdianship of the Nawab, which they 
bestowed on Rajah Goordas, son of Nuncoomar. When 
that' wretch', as Warren Ha'3ting!:> rightly termed him, 
mounted the scaffold, he well deserved his fate. But 
English ju.stice doe" not recognize the idea that a man 
should be hanged because hi" character and history may 
show that he deserves it. He can be hanged for nothing 
but for the crime of which he has been convicted; and 
though Nuncoomar's trial wa'l absolutely fdir (as it was 
certain to be before a Bench of English Judges) and though 
the verdict was just upon the facts proved, and the sentence 

• legal under the statute, it cannot be denied that a respite, 
to ascertain the pleasure of the Crown, would have been 
advisable. Not that any rational person, as we conceive, 
can agree with the exaggerated language of Macaulay 
when he says that the crime for which N uncoomar was to 
die was regarded by Hindoos in much the same light in 
which the selling of an unsound horse for a sound price 
is regarded by a Yorkshire jockey. -It is prob'\hle, perhaps 

between the Court of Delhi :1tld the French authorities in the 
Camatic.'-Essay. 
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certain, that the theory of Hindoo ethics differs in many 
respects from English ideas; but it is to be observed that 
in all ages and all countries the standard of mercantile 
morality has attached high regard to the sanctity of 
pecuniary contracts; and it is impossible to believe that 
in the great trading centre of Calcutta the native merchants 
and bankers thought no more of the forgery of a bond 
than they did of sharp practice in the sale of a horse. 
Nevertheless, the enforcement of tlje capital :-..entence under 
a statute passed to apply to England, in accordance with 
English views, on a native of Bengal was excessivc. But 
it is easy t~derstand that Sir Elijah Impey, an ordinary 
EogJi<:h b".\:YCi, w ill! no wide view~,' made obstinate, as 
is probable enough, by the attitude of the majority in the 
Council, was likely to inSist on the strict lettcr of the law. 

Of roursc Francis, we say Francis becausc he was 
throughout the moving spirit of the three, and wc say 0f 
course becau~e his whole conduct betrayed hib ilJvcteratc 
hostility to the Governor-General, declared that Nuncoomar 
had been put to death under a conspiracy between Hastings 
and Impey. The charge was false, like other charges 
brought by Francis; just as false as the a:-..sertion that 
Warren Hastings was the mover in the prosecution. But 
Macaulay adopted it, at any rate as against Impey, and 
seems to have believed that he proved it by quoting words 
used by Warren Hastings in subsequent years, when 
speaking of Impey as the man 'to whuse support he was 
at one time indebted for the safety of his fortune: honour, 
and reputation '. To this quotation Macaulay added: 
'These strong words can refer only to the case of Nun­
coomar, and ~hey must mean that Impey hanged Nuncoomar 
in order to support Hastings. It is, therefore, our deliberate 
opinion that Impey, sittL1g as a judge, put a man unjustly 
to death in order to seljve a political purpose.' 

As far as.the conduh of Impey is in judgement (though 
with that we hay'! no direct \oncem) it may be sufficient 
to refer( the reader to Sir James Stephen's Stor), oj 
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Nuncoo11lar, an admirable exposition of the whole tragedy, 
in which the innocence of both the Chief J u!>tice and the 
Governor-General is conclusively proved. But in respect 
to the words used by Warren Hastings, it is certain that 
Macaulay, with regard to them, fell into one (If his many 
rash mistakes. These words were used in reference to the 
attempt made by Clavering and Francis to seize the reins 
of Government on the pretext that Warren Hastings 
(owing to a resignation Itanded to the Dilectors in London 

• by his agent and disavowed by him) was no longer Governor. 
At that momentolls crisis, big with the fate of British 
India, which brought out conspicuously the ~h qualities 
of Warren Hastings, he, after telling the army to obey 
no orders but his, and thus defeating Clavering's attempt 
to posse!>!> himself of Fort William, calmly offered his angry 
and storming colleagues to refer the question between them 
to the arbitrament of the Supreme Court. They were 
reluctantly compelled to accept the offer, a!> they dated 
not face the consequences of refu!>al. The reference was 
made. and the Chief J llstice, with the other Judges, gave 
a unanimous decbion in favour of the Governor-General. 
It was to this, and in no way to the Nuncoomar business, 
that Warren Hasting.., alluded, when he expressed his 
la!>ting obligation~ to Sir Elijah Impey, 

The whole story, as told by' Macaulay, is more than 
inaccurate; it bears the character of fiction. He starts 
with th~ assumption, for which no evidence of any kind 
is produced, that Impey, an old schoolfellow of Warren 
Hastings, had at once on landing in Calcutta become the 
obsequious tool of the GovernOl-General, and had entered 
into a conspiracy to rid him of N uncoomar by corruptly 
using the powers of the Supreme Court for that purpose. 
When stating this, Macaulay had either failed to perceive 
or had purposely passed over, the. fact that the trial, in 
all its stages, was conducted not by Impey ~lone, but in 
unison with three other J ud~s; and his statement therefore 
amounts to this, that four English gCfltlemen, jn a high 

• 
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judicial position, combined together to do not only a 
corrupt but also a most wicked thing. The history of the 
English Bench, and we may truly say the nature of English 
character, forbid belief in such a story. 

Pitt, after hearing the facts, jn connexion with the pro­
posed impeachment of Impey, declared his opinion in the 
House that there was not a shade of solid proof for such 
a charge. It has been "hown that the prosecution for 
forgery was commenced by MOAun Persaud before the , 
accusation again!>t \Varren Hastings came before the 
Council, and therefore before the Gov~rnor-General could 
have had atlp motive in the matter. The suggestion made 
by Sir Alfred Lya.ll t1htt !>omt hint mIght have been given 
to Mohun Persaud is ju~t as impos~ible as is the broader 
accusation; for there could be no reason to give any such 
hint at the time when Mohun Per~aud obtained the incrimi­
nating papers, which indeed he had been trying to do long 
before. It i~ to be regretted that Sir Alfr.:d LYdll made 
any sllch sugge;,tion, sceing that it directly conflict" with 
his own words two page" earlier in hIs book: 'It may be 
accepted, upon Sir James Stephen's authority, that no 
evidence can be produced to justify conclusions adverse 
to the innocence of Hastings upon a charge that has from 
its nature affected the popular tradition regarding him far 
more deeply than the accu~ations of high-handed oppres­
sive political tran~1.ction;" which arc little understood and 
leniently condemned hy thf' Fnglish at ialge. lhere is 
really nothing to prove that he had anything to do with 
the prosecution, or that he influenced the ~entence: 1 That 
is all true, but it is not quite the whole truth; the case 
does not re~t on a negative; in the preceding pages it has 
been shown that strong positive proof has come to light 
of the absolute innocenc( of Warren Hastings of any part 
in the prosecution. With the sentence he had no power 
to interfere" the Supreme Court being, by the terms of the 

) Lyall, p. 70. 
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statute which created it, absolutely independent of the Bengal 
executive. 

The story, in its origin, was the invention of Philip 
Francis, whose disappointed ambition bred in his rancorous 
nature a hatred and revenge. which dogged Warren Hastings 
for years ill Calcutta and at home. It was used in the 
attempted impeachment of Impey, and was discredited in 
the House of Commons. It was revived by Macaulay 
to add a deeper drama.c effect to. a rhetorical essay, and 
like many other falsities it has been widely accepted as 
truth, because it <l\)peals to that love of the sensational 
which is inherent in the nature of mankind.1 

1 Macaulay's account was certainly taken from SIr Gilbert Elliott's 
speech on the proposal to impeach Impey; and that speech bears 
internal evidence that it was inspired, if not actually composed, by 
Francis. 



CHAPTER IV 

MAHRATTA WAR. WAR WITH FRANCE. 

INTERNAL DISSENSIONS. 

IN the struggle over Nuncoomar the hostile majority had 
been signally worsted. They were eat fin,t completely 
silenced, thc:tgh in a few months' time (January 25) they 
entered on the records of the Council a minute bigned by all 
three (but obviously written by Fr,mci,,) declaring with some 
malice of expression that no man who had any regard for 
his own safcty would venture to stand forth as accuser of 
the Govemor-GeneraJ.l No doubt it had been borne in 
on the Native mind that it might be safer to h~ in a minority 
with Warren Hastings than in a majority with hi~ opponents 
But there was something more. The European inhabitants 
of Calcutta and settler,> in Bengal had perceived the blunders 
committed by the faction in the Council. They knew well 
the improvements in administration that had been carried 
nut by \Varren Hastings, and which had been swept away by 
the ignorant folly of his enemies. Not only had those three 
upset the arrangements made with the Vizier.2 and thus 
imperilled as the Governor-General had prophc,sicd, the 
security of our north-western frontier, but they had rc<;tored 
the double government with all its corruption and inefficiency, 

1 Stale Fap"ys, Vol. II, p. 476. 
2 The policy of the Council majority towards the Oude VlZler had 

proved rumous to theiT ally; fOT owmg to his mutinous army, his 
powerful and irtractable muther, and the incessant demands made 
on him by the British Re.;ident for arrears of debt, Asaph-u-Dowla's 
predicament was most di~tTessful j and the who:e country appears, 
by the descri~tion given in the letters from the Resident of Luck­
now, to have been faIling away l\lto masterless confusion.-Lyall, 
p. 74· 
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placing Reza Mahomed Khan once more at its head, and 
had reversed Warren Hastings' statesmanlike legislation con­
cerning the Courts of Justice. Life and property became as 
insecure as before, and bands of robbers again appeared in 
the confines of Calcutta.1 

• It may seem scarcely credible 
that such ruinous steps could have been taken !>y any sane 
persons occupying a responsible position; but their blind 
hatred of the Governor-General had deprived the three 
malcontents alike of ptllldence anc~ reason. Happily for 
British interests, imperilled by temper and incompetence, 
the hour was soon ~ strike when the authority of the great 
Indian statesman would be restored. But bef')re that day 
came their pernicious opposition was to manifest itself in 
foreign relations. 

At the end of May, 1775, a dispatch reached Calcutta 
from Bombay, announcing that the Government of that 
Presidency had concluded a treaty with a Mahratta chief, 
one Raghoba, who was a claimant to the office of Peishwa 2, 

by which he agreed to cede tne i9Iand of Salsette, and also 
the town of Basscin, to the English on the condition that 
they would use thcil power to restore him to Poona. The 
acquisition of Sal sette wa'> most important, for the Portu­
guese had de"igns upon it, and it i'l so close to Bombay that 
part of the city IS nm~ built thereon. But this advantage 
did not blind the Governor-General to the imprudence of the 
transactlon, and he at once pronounced the treaty unseason­
able, im~olitic, unjust and unauthorized.s 'It is unseasonable 

J The conduct of the three Members of Council was the more 
mexcusable, because at the first meetinf, of the new Council, held 
on October 25, 1774, the Governor-General laid before his colleagues 
an able Mmute, worded In a conclhatory spirit, on the revenue and 
politics of the country. He explained ,he mode he had adopted for 
the tollection of the revenue, and earnestly advised its continuance. 
-State Papers, Vol. I, p. llS. 

2 That is, to the virtual headship of the 'tAahratta confederacy. 
3 It is Significant that the Managers of the Impl1.lchment, who 

vehemently attacked Warren HlIstmgs for the subsequent war With 
the Mahrattas, never l',)tic.ed his Mmute contlemnipg tl-:e Bombay 
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because the treaty was formed with Raghoba at a time in 
which he appears to have been totally abandoned by his 
former adherents. It was ilT'politic because it threw the 
whole burden of the war on the Company without a force 
at the command of the Presi~ency equal to the under­
taking, without money or certain re<;OUlces, and because it 
was undertaken without any regard to the general interests 
of the other settlements of the Company in India. It was 
unjust because they had received ne injury from any part of 
the Mahratta State which could authorize their interfering 
in their mutual dissen~ions, nor were u~der any actual ties 
to assist Raghoba.' But though he thus condemned the 
treaty. Warn>" H:lStiiigs \\ a., fd.r too much of a statesman 
to suppose th,lt he could dbregard accomplbhed facts, or 
could extricate himself abruptly from the complications in 
which his rash subordinates had involved him. He pro­
posed to the Council: 'That the Pre~ident and Council of 
Bombay be peremptOl ily enjoined to cancel thr· treaty with 
Raghoba, and to withdraw the detachment immediately 
to their own pos5essions by whatev(;r means may be in 
their power, unle5s any of the following case" may have 
occurred :-

1st. That they shall have obtained any decisive advantage 
over the enemy; 

2nd. That the detachment shall have proceeded to such 
a distance, or be in "uch a ~ituation, as to make it dangerous 
either to retreat or to go on : 

3rd. That a negotiation shall have taken place between 
Raghoba and his opponents in consequence of the support 
afforded by this alliance.' I 

There can be no real doubt of the wisdom of this pro­
posal; it covered the retreat of the Bombay Government 

expedition in aId of Raghoba. This shows the tone and temper of 
the proceedings; to rake, up everythmg against the accused, and 
to keep back .!verything in his favour. Few impartial inquirers can 
doubt that the Impeachment was ent;ineered by personal malice. 

1 State Rapers, Vol. II, p. 392. 
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if they found their expedition to be a failure'; it gavc them 
the option to stand firm if they scored a success. But 
Francis at once opposed it, and the majority (following his 
lead as usual) resolved: I That the troops be ordered to be 
recalled without any exception but the single consideration 
of their safety.' The consequences were most unfortunate. 
Before the dispatch arrived at Bombay a hard-fought battle 
had been won at Arras, and the moral effect of this success, 
if the position had been '.Jlaintained, would have powerfully 
aided the British diplomacy; but th~ Government of Bom­
bay, though their PiCsident wrote a dignified protest, felt 
bound to obey the inst! uctions they had receiyed; they 
withdrew their troops from Mahratta territory, and the 
advantage gained was totally lost. It was in vain that the 
Supreme Government dispatched a special agent (Colonel 
Upton) to Poona to negotiate, [01 the Mahratta ministers 
now demanded in'possibJe term~; and when the Calcutta 
Council at last consented to a bolder policy, and empowered 
the Bombay GovelOment to renew the war, it wa.s too late; 
the treaty of Purandhar had been signed (March J, 1776) 
and 'Warren Hastings could do nothing but state his dis­
approval of its conditions. N a better example could be 
given of the mi<;chief wrought by the per~istent and factious 
opposition waged in hi!> own Council against the Governor­
General. 1 aking this palticular c~c;e; to that opposition 
were largely due the los~e~ and anxietie" of the prolonged 
war which two years later broke out with the Mahrattas. 

But befOle that peril was encountered the act of Goel 
intervened for the salvation of our country's interests in the 
East. In September, 1776, Colonel Monson died. This event 
at once reversed the political conditions in the Coullci}. The 
number being reduced to four, Hastings and Barwell were 
equal to Francis and Clavering, and the casting vote lay 
with the Governor-General. He at. once acted with his 
usual energy. He swept away the paltry proceedings of 
his opponents, with their fituous policy and their evil 
administration; he on( e more abolished tie doubl, govern-

G 
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ment, and made the British rule sole and undivided through 
the Bengal Presidency; he re-established the provincial 
Courts, and enforced law and order under his sway. The 
whole fabric of British administration and British justice 
now supreme over two hundred millions of our Indian 
fellow-subjects, to their imm<!asurable benefit, has been 
built on the foundations laid by Warren Hastings as soon 
as his assailants' clamour was silenced and his own hands 
were untied. He also did his ~st to reinstate the good 
understanding with t}{e ruler of Oude, and to ensure a 
safe policy on the frontier, by recalwng the nominee of 
the late majority, and replacing in the Residency his own 
tried and approvcn <;nbordinat::, MI'. Middleton. 

It was indeed time that adequate power should be restored 
t.u the Executive. In I77S a French agent 1 appeared at the 
Court of the Peishwa, and was received with effusion by one 
of the Mahratta statesmen who was powerful in the Ministry 
at Poona. Fortunately another of the offiria!s, who had 
negotiated the treaty of Purandhar, took the opposite line 
and made overtures to the Bombay Government for the 
restoration of Raghoba. That Government at once passed 
a resolution approving of the course proposed, and forwarded 
a copy thereof to the Governor-General. Then was seen 
the advantage of the changed position in the Council. 
Frands vehemently opposed the resolution as illegal, unjust, 
and impolitic; illegal because it had not the sanction of the 
supreme authority; unjust becau"e it was (.ontrary to the 
treaty; impolitic because it involved the Comp~ny in the 
dangers and burdens of war. He had perhaps forgotten 
that the present difficulty had arisen because he and his 
colleagues (then both living) had opposed and defeated at 
the outset the wise policy of Warren Hastings. But now 
the Governor-General had ·he power in his hands, and he 
stood firm. He said: in the spirit of true statesmanship, 
that the emergency justified the illegality. He pointed out 
that if they were acting contrary to the treaty they were 

1 :The Chevalier de St. Lubin. 
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doing so at the instance of the minister who had negotiated 
that treaty. He knew what was meant by the presence of 
a French agent in Poona; he forecast the possibilities of 
a French alliance with the Mahrattas. He moved, and by 
his casting vote he carril:i,d a resolution authorizing the 
President and Council at Bombay to carry out the policy 
they proposed, granting to them a sum of ten lacs of 
rupees, and sending to their aid a military force under 
Colonel Leslie. It was on bold mo¥e, and had it been pos­
sible to take it earlier it might have averted many mis­
fortunes. but thi~ has not been possible while the triumvirate 
still held power. It is ~ufficient, in proof of this, to say 
that no sooner did a letter from Leslie reach Calcutta mtn­
tioning that some slight resistance was offered by the Mah­
rattas to his advance, than Francis at once moved that 
• the expedition be ab~olutely cc>untermanded. and Colonel 
Leslie's command of course dissolved as soon as he ha" 
quartered his troops on this side the Jumna '.1 Such and 
no less was the persistent faction of the man I 

But at this moment there came news from Bombay calcu­
lated to silence the disputants. 'It i" with much concern,' 
wrote the Government of the Pr(,;,jdency, 'we acquaint you 
that by theLondo1z Gaz,'ftc ofthe J 6th December just received 
f'om Bassora, we learn that General Burgoyne, with his 
whole army of 3,500 fighting men, was compelled to sur­
render to General Gates on the 14th of October on the 
condition of being tramported to England from Boston, and 
not to serve again in America during the war. General 
Howe remains in possession of Philadelphia, with which 
place the fleet have in vain endeavoured to open a com­
munication, and three of our ships have been destroyed in 
the attempts. General Washington was encamped within 
a few miles of Philadelphia, &c.' 2 

A t:risis of this sort, big with the tate of empires, brings 
out the qualities of politicians. Let us see ~ho was the 
man capable of saving Britisk India and .resolute to do so; 

• 
1 State PajJerJ, Vvl. II, p. 623. 2 'bid., p. 6:t>. 
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aud who, if he could have had his way, would have lost it. 
Francis, on receipt of the news, at once took the line of 
political cowardice. He begged his colleagues to consider 
'whether the unfortunate eVf'nt in America ought not to 
have a general influence upon our measures here, whether 

• this be a season for hazarding offensive operations of any 
kind, and whether policy and prudence do not plainly dic­
tate to us that while the nation is so deeply engaged and 
pressed on one side, with everything to apprehend from the 
designs of France and Spain on the other, we should stand 
on our defence, and not weaken or divi~ the force on which 
the safety of Bengal may ucpend '.1 

But to thiS counsel of despair Warren Hastings at once 
replied with force and dignity: 'I hope that our affairs in 
America are not in the desperate situation in which they are 
described to be; but I sec no connexion between them and 
the concerns of this Government; much less can I agree 
that with such superior advantages as we possess over ellery 
power which can oppose us, we should act merely on the 
defensive and abruptly stop the operation of a measure of 
such importance to the national interests and to the national 
safety as that in whieh we have now decidedly engaged, with 
the eyes of all India turned upon it. On the contrary, if it be 
really true that the British arms and influence have suffered 
so severe a check in the \Veste' n world, it is the more incum­
bent on those who arc charged with the interest of Great 
Britain in the East to exert themselves for the retrieval of 
the national loss.' 2 

These were the words of a great Englishman, bent on 
doing his duty as ruler of India and determined to maintain, 
as far as in him lay, the interests and the honour of his 
country. They were a prophecy of the events that followed. 
III other quarter" of the globe, during that long and deadly 
struggle, England lost(territory and had much ado to keep , 
her flag flying; but in the East the genius and courage 
of Warren' Hastings upheld f her supremacy and brought 

1 IState Pap.'rs, Vol. II, p. 632. 2 Ibid., p. 632 • 
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her, through much tribulation, to ultimate triumph and 
peace.} 

On July 7, 177!l, the news arrived that France had de­
clared war against England. The Governor-General at once 
held a Council and proposed, among other things, that Rajah 
Cheit Sing (of Benares) ;hould be required to raise and 
pay three battalions of Sepoys. Francis was anxious that 
words should be added to imply that this additional charge 
upon the Rajah would Ilot be continued after the close of • the war. Warren Hastings said at once that such was his 
own intention; butehe refused to add any words of qualifica­
tion which might throw doubt on the right of the paramount 
power to make the demand. He always held that the 
subsidiary States und~r the Company's rule were liable to 
extraordinary contributions in case of urgent need; and he 
carried a resolution' that the Rajah Cheyt Sing be required 
in form to contribute his share of the burden of the present 
war, by the establishment of three regular battalions of 
Sepoys, to be raised and maintained at hi" expense, and 
that the Governor-General be requested to write to him to 
that effect.' 2 It will be well [or the reader to bear this cir­
cumstance in mind when we come to some further passages 
in the history of Cheit Sing. 

The Governor-General, who seldom waited for his 
adversalY to strike, at once resolved to seize the French 
settlements in I ndia. A force was dispatched to Chander­
nagore, which took possession of the place with no more 
bloodshed than was caused by one volley from our Sepoys 

1 The anxiety which beset Warren Hastings from the time when 
a combination of foes were leagued together against our Indian 
possessions, was expressed by him before the Lords, when he in­
dignantly replied to the unworthy accusations that he ha.d sought 
emolument for himself in his Governorship. 'I was too intent,' 
said he, 'upon the means to be emplo¥,ed for preserving India to 
Great Britain from the hour in which I t.vas informed that France 
meant to strain every nerve to dispute that Em~e with us, to 
bestow a tho~ght upon myself ortny own privat.e affairs.' 

2 State Papers, Vol. I I, pp. 638-9. 
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in reply to a discharge of muskets by the French guard 
at the gates. Both the commandant and the inhabitants 
protested against what they considered an outrage, but the 
Governor-General replied that the declaration of war by 
both England and France left him no :alternative, and that 
he had directed the officer in command of the force employed 
to treat the inhabitants with all possible tenderness. In­
structions were also sent to Madras desil ing that immediate 
steps should be taken to capture ~Pondicherry and Mahe. 
The former place capitulated after a re~istance so gallant 
that the garrison were allowed to rw.lrch out with the 
honours of war, and to retain their colours. Mahe was also 
occupied, dll event whIch led to momentous consequences. 
By the same dispatch from the Madras Government which 
told of the occupation of Mahe came also a letter from 
Hyder Ali :,trongly prote<;ting against an attack on a Flench 
factory situated in his dominion". 

This new danger added to the Mahratta difficulties. 
The attempt to push into the heart of the Confederacy's 
dominion with a small army had ended in disaster. This 
indeed had been retrieved by General Goddatd, a soldier of 
courage and capacity, who, on hearing of the defeat of the 
Bombay troops, marched his detachment from Bundelcund 
to Surat a distance of three hundred miles, in twenty day~, 
and by his timely arrival saved the Bombay Presidency 
from the grwe danger which threatened it, <1.nJ restored 
the reputation. of the D,;ti"h allu<;. The Governor-General 
directed General Goddard to open a negotiation WIth the 
ministers of tte M ahratta State on the basis of the T teaty 
of Purandhar, provided they would recf'de from their late 
pretensions, and would agree not to admit any French force 
to their dominions, nor allow that nation to < form any 
establishment on the Mahlatta coast. Peace could not be 
obtained on these. terms, and on January I, J780, the war 
was renewed 1. f 

But before dealing further with the storm of war which was , , 
\, For this (liee State Papers, Introd., pp. !iv, Iv. 



INTERNAL DISSENSIONS 

now descending upon India, it is requi;.ite to call attention 
to two dangerous controversies that had arisen among the 
English authorities themselves. Much has been written on 
both these topics to incriminate Warren Hastings; but 011 

both, it is submitted, his reputation will stand out un­
clouded in the eyes of tl~ose who will look impartially 
into the facts. 

The Act for regulating the Government of India had 
beoo drawn, or at any r,\te had been passed by Parliament. 
in a confused fashion which on sevefal points left the intent 
of the Legislature ~bscure. This was especially the case 
with regard to that part of the measure which dealt with 
the Supreme Court of Judicature. It was clear that the 
Court wag intended tt> be independent of the Executive; 
but it was by no means clear what were the intended limitg 
of the Court's authority. It was certain that the Judges had 
full jurisdiction over what was called the Presidency District, 
but it was matter of considerable doubt whether their juris­
diction extended into the wide and densely populated 
territories beyond. It was also dubious how far their 
admitted independe~ce of the Executive availed them to 
interfere with admini"trative acts of the Executive itself. 
These were questions on which different opinions could be 
honestly held, questions which would have been best cleared 
up by the supreme authority at home. Unfortunately the 
Judges took the ground that they alone had power to 
construe the Act, that their jurisdiction over the entire 
territory of the Bengal Government was not to be ques­
tioned, and that the millions of the popUlation thereon, 
inclusive of all officials, were subject to the manifold 
technicalities of the English law. This astonishing pre--tension was naturally resisted by the Company's servants, 
and collisions occurred between the officers of the Supreme 
Court and the officials of the reVf"Jlue and other depart~ 
ments. A sort of civil war began,.and the service of the 
Court s process was often oPinly resisted. The-Judges were 
so iII-advised as to issue writs against th~ Governr;>r-General 
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himself; an insult which he treated with just contempt. 
It is certain that on one occasion an armed band under the 
orders of the Sheriff was encountered, and of course worsted, 
by a party.of the military acting under the direction of the 
Executive. Such a state of anarchy could not be permitted 
to continue. Warren Hastings, who had taken at first 
a moderate and conciliatory line, in unison with his known 
opinion that the Crown should exercise more direct au­
thority in India, now declared wiJ.h determination for the 
authority of the Coul{cil. For once he was unanimou!oly 
supported by his colleagues, and with .the army at his back 
could easily have defcateri the Court. But his just and 
equal miih.1 }JJevaiied over all provocation. The times 
were dangerous; the enemy was at'the gate; and Warren 
Hastings, always a state!-:man, resolved to compromise. 
To restore peace and unity to the civil authority in Bengal, 
to leave the hands of Go\'ernment free to grapple with the 
war, was the prime necessity. He effected the object with 
his usual adroitness. He offered to the Chief Justice th(' 
control of all the Company's Courts, from the Sudder 
A dawlut downwards, if he and his colleagues would give 
up their preposterous claims to interfere with the Executive, 
The new appointment was to carry a salary of £6,000 
a year, and to be tenable at the pleasure of the Governor­
General. This last provision fully secured the public 
interests. The offer was accepted and quiet was restored. 
Warren Ha.,tings said ut the time that he knew thl. 
arrangement would be attacked and that he would be 
abused for having made it. But like a true patriot he 
faced the blame to secure the safety of the State. His 
words came true. When the terms of the compact were 
known at home, great blame was thrown on the' Governor­
General and the Chief J u&tice both by Parliament and by 
the Ministry. Francis had vehemently opposed the arrange­
ment, and it may De w~l1 believed that he was at the bottom 
of the representations made inc·Downing Street. But it was 
eminently. a case i/ol which the opinion of those on the spot 
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may be taken as conclusive. In Calcutta the universal feel­
ing, the feeling of Natives and Europeans alike, was that the 
action of the Governor-General had saved the Presidency 
from a great danger. All knew that the right thing had 
been done, and knew also that there was only one man who 
had the wits and the morar courage to do it. It may be 
added that Macaulay, who seldom throughout the Essay 
lost an opportunity to condemn Warren Hastings, admits 
that in this difficult mat~r the Governor-General acted as 
a statesman. • 

Sir Elijah Impey",as recalled by a vote of the House of 
Commons, far his share in the transaction, but nothing was 
finally pressed home to him; and Sir James Stephen, 
after a careful consideration of the whole subject, expresses 
his opinion that there was much to be said for the view 
taken by the Chief Justice. A greater witness than that 
accomplished jurist bears even still more convincing testi­
mony. The witness of experience has now for many years 
shown that the plan for which Impey was recalled and 
Warren Hastings was abused, that of placing all the 
country courts in each Presidency under the appellate juris­
diction of the High Court, works well throughout India. 1 

The other controversy, still more serious it may be at the 
moment, but of much shorter duration, arose out of the 
alleged resignation of his office by the Governor-General. 
1 t is quite true that in 1775 Warren Hastings, under circum-

J Sir Alfred Lyall says: 'The measure was at once politic, practical, 
and effective; it terminated by a master-stroke the conflict of 
jurisdiction; and it undoubtedly placed all the country courts, which 
had been dispensing a very haphazard and intuitive kind of justice, 
for the first time under the control of a person who could guide 
and control. them upon recogmzed principles ... Impey accepted 
the salary subject to refund if the arrangement should be disallowed 
at home; and he appears to have undertaken the duties in an 
honourable spirit ... The plan of uniting .the Chief Justiceship with 
the superintendency of the district court~ taken on its merits, was 
a good and practical remedy of existing evils.'-Lyall, a. lIS. 

This. is a Vluch juster estimatellof Impey's cqpduct than that given 
by Macaulay. 



WARREN HASTINGS 

stances of great stress, blamed as he was at home when dis­
tance made it difficult for him to answer or explain, thwarted 
and abused in his Council, and traduced in the dispatches of 
his opponents, did write to his agent in London, Colonel 
Maclean, that if he were condemned over the Rohilla war 
or the Benares treaty, he would leave India at once, and 
that in the event named Colonel Maclean should send in 
his resignation. But more than two years had since elapsed, 
and the circumstances by which .,the resignation had been 
conditioned had not occurred. The Directors of the Com­
pany had passed a resolution, dubi<»JsJy worded, on the 
subject of the Rohilla war, but it could hardly be construed 
as a votc of ,-cnsure, and nothing more had followed. The 
Benares treaty, which had been sett.fed by Warren Hastings 
himself with the Vizier, and had handed over to that ruler 
the ontlyillg districts of Korah and Allahabad in exchange 
for a large sum of money thcn sorely nceded by the Rengal 
treasury, had not been challenged. Neverthele~", Colonel 
Maclean, made nervous as it would seem by proceedings in 
the Commons, and by differences of opinion among the 
Directors, handed in the resignation, attaching to it the 
condition that Warren H <!sting" "hould be held to retire 
with honour, and be free from any future molestation. The 
resigr.ation was thereupon accepted, 1\11'. \Vhcler, a member 
of the Board of Directors, was appointed to succeed, and 
General Clavering wa" authorized to a"sume the position of 
Governor-General until \Vhc1cr ,houJd drrive at Calcutta. 

The whole circumstances of the case, and e"pccially a 
letter writtc:l by the Governor-General before the events 
just narrated had happened, expressing his determination 
not to give up his office unless he were removed by the • King, must compel the conclusion that Colonel Maclean 
exceeded his instructions, and that his act consequently did 
not bind his pnncipal.. It may be taken as certain that 
Warren Hastings had hever thought of resignation from the 
moment that Monson's deathc-gave him the decisive voice 
in the Cquncil, atid it is quite possible that h~ may have 
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forgotten the instruction given to his agent under cir­
cumstances past and buried. Any way the heat and 
aggressiveness exhibited by Clavering must have spurred 
the Governor-General to resistance. He sat with Barwell 
in one room; Clavering sat with Francis in another. Each 
claimed the office and the rTtle; each issued minutes and 
notices demanding support and obedience; but there was 
this decisive difference in their respective positions. Warren 
Hastings had with him tlIe army, the officials, the people, 
Native and European, in a word the c~mmunity. Clavering 
had no one but Fr.ncis. When he demanded the keys 
of Fort William, the commandant refused to give them 
up. There was little doubt, if force had been appealed to, 
what the result would hctve been. But here, as ever, Warren 
Hastings showed his temper and his statesmanship. He 
kept his coolness while his rival stormed. Having made 
himself secure as to the army, he offered to refer the question 
between Clavering and himself to the arbitrament of the 
Supreme Court, and undertook to abide by its decision. 
Such an offer could not be refused; it was necessarily, 
though we may be sure with reluctance, accepted. The 
Judges decided unanimously in favour of the Governor­
General, and Clavering, deeply mortified, had to subside 
into the position of a Councillor. He died a few months 
after, and from that time till the close of his rule the 
supremacy of Warren Hastings in his Council was in the 
main undisputed. It was well for our Indian Empire that 
this was so, for, had the power fallen into other hands, ruin 
would at that moment have been imminent. Ordinary men 
may do well in ordinary times; but with the Mahrattas 
threatening our borders, Hyder Ali thundering on the 
Carnatic, an~ a French squadron in the Indian seas, none 
but Warren Hastings could save the State. 

It only remains, in this chapter, t\jl note the celebrated 
quarrel between the Governor-Gener\l and Philip Francis, 
which in August, 1780, termiIlited in a duel. Tb make the 
subject cleaT- it is necegsary to recall the :exact position of 
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affairs in the Council when this event was brought about. 
The deaths of Monson and Clavering had left Francis the 
sole representative of the three members who had so long 
opposed the Governor-General. Wheler had arrived in 
expectation of being sworn il'l for the high office supposed 
to be vacant, and found that he must content himself with 
the post of a simple Councillor. It may be easily under­
stood that his temper towards \Varren Hastings, whose 
success had disappointed his hOJlles, was not amicable; he 
consequently attached himself to Francis, by whose strong 
personality he was soon dominate<i. The voices in the 
Council were now eqwd; Hastings and Barwell on one 
side, Franci:; tlrlJ \Vheler on the other; Sir Eyre Coote, 
who had been nominated to succeed Clavering, had not 
yet arrived; so the casting vote of the Governor-General 
decided every issue. But Barwell was broken in health, he 
had made a large fortune, and was anxious to return 
home, though he loyally hesitated to leave his chief in an 
embarrassed minority. Francis and \Vhelcr persistently op' 
posed the Governor-General in hi~ conduct of the Mahratta 
war, and strong Minutes were interchanged on the subject. 
At a meeting of the Council held on January 20, 1779, 
\Varren Hastings stated (in reference to the intimated retire­
ment of Barwell) that it would be fatal to thc success of the 
Mahratta war if it were known at Poona and Nagpur that 
the powers of the Govcrnment were' on the eve of devolving 
on two members who haw' invariably opposed in every 
stage of its progress the plan which has been publicly 
adopted fOl the support of the Company's interest on the 
western side of India, and who, it is universally believed, 
will seize the first means that are offered to them to defeat 
and annul it altogether.' He added-' A M~mber of the 
Government, entrusted with the guardianship of the Com­
pany's interests, and pf the honour of the British name in 
India, has not scruplM to propose that we should make an 
ablect subrflission to the hon<jurable possessors of the feeble 
Government at ~oona, acknowledging our pdt faults with 
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a promise of amendment, and humbly entreating their 
permission for the safe retreat of our army from Berar to 
its confines.' And he went on-' I do therefore conjure 
Mr. Barwell, both by that zeal which he has hitherto 
steadily manifested for the interests of our common masters, 
and even by the ties of a frtendship cemented by the par­
ticipation of the same labours and sufferings for the public 
!>ervice, that he will not permit the measures in which he 
has a common and equal. responsibility with myself to be 
exposed to the triumph of a party, tut that he will both 
continue to afford thq. support of hi~ presence :md abilities 
to the present Government while' it yet exists, and that he 
will suffer me to exact from him a declaration to that 
purpose, not only for ~y own 'iatisfaction but for that of 
every man who has the Company's intere<,ts or the pros­
perity of this settlement or the credit of his country at 
heart, and who, I presume to ,ay, expects this sacrifice 
from him.' 1 Barwcll, in rcspome to this appeal, declared 
that--' the rea 'ions that are assigned for it by the Governor­
General, require me absolutely to retract my intention. 
I have declared I admit the fOlce of them, and with 
pleasure declare my determination to support his Govern­
ment a:o, long as the public meJ.sures of it shall require.' 
These quotations ::o.how the deep sense entet tained by Warren 
Hastings of the danger that would ensue if Francis ~hould 
by any accident regain a predominant voice in the Council. 

Yet not long after this an arrangement was arrived at, it 
i., believed through the mediation of a common friend,2 
under which Francis was to ab~tain from any general 
opposition, especially with regard to the conduct of the 
war, and to receive in return a certain share of Government 
influence a~d patronage. \Vat ren Hastings, in a letter 
written on the 4th of March, quotes the terms of the agree­
ment: < Mr. Francis will not oppoSt; any measures which 
the Governor-General shalll'ecommend for the prosecution 
of the war in which we are. supposed to be efigaged with 

1 State Papers, Vol. n, pp. 633-34. "Il Sir John Day. 
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the Mahrattas, or for the general support of the present 
political system of this Government. Neither will he him­
self either propose or vote with any other member who 
shall propose any measures which shall be contrary to the 
Govemor-General's opinion 'on these points: Nothing 
could be more explicit; and In consequence of this agree­
ment Barwell, who had been . privy to the treaty in all 
stages of it,' left, with Warren Hastings' free consent, for 
England. .. 

All went smoothly 'for a time, but when Francis perceived 
that he had once more the power in ~i!> hands if he chose to 
exercise it, he became aggressive in his demands. The 
Govemor-GellPr:ll w::!.s most <1.11xious to bring the Mahratta 
war to an end, for he foresaw the' other danger!:> that were 
dt hand, and, convinced that it could be ended only by 
decisive action, designed a diversion in Malwa to draw off 
the attention of the Mahrattas, and thus enable General 
Goddard to act vigorously in Berar. This c( urse had been 
strongly recommended to the Council by the Commander­
in-Chief. Francis at once broke out into bitter opposition, 
and when reproached by \Varren Hastings, in fair and 
moderate language, for his departure from the engagement, 
he replied that the agreement only referred to the operation!:> 
already commenced on the Malabar coast. Of course this 
contention was clearly opposed to the wording of the agree­
ment, but as Francis afterwards denied point-hlank that 
there was a'1y agreement at all, it mattered little what he 
said on the .:;ubject. On June z6, 17iio, Wanen Hastings 
wrote :-' If Mr. Francis (I am compelled to speak thus 
plainly) thin'<:s that he can better and more effectually 
conduct the war to the termination which we both profess 
to aim at, and that he can in honour deprive m~ of the right 
which 1 claim to dictate tre means of accomplishing it, let 
him avowedly lake 1J1e leatl; but if I am to be charged 
with the consequl'ncd of it, or if the right which I claim be 
justly mine~ let him allow m<;to possess and exercise it. It 
is impossible to ':combine the principles of elrterprise and 
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inaction in the same general measure; and as impossible 
for his sentiments and mine to be brought into agreement 
on the subject of the Mahratta war.' 1 To this Francis 
replied in a Minute, marked by his undoubted ability, 
denouncing the whole condud of the war, and refusing to 
sanction any measure until : general outline of the whole 
campaign was submitted to him. Upon this Warren 
Hastings, seeing that all hope of a compromise was at an 
end, prepared a powerful.Minute dealing with the conduct 
of Francis, and laid it next day before the Council. After 
assuming that the J'v1.jnute signed by Francis and Wheler 
was written entirely by the former, and expressing his dis­
appointment that the hint he had given had not' awakened 
in the breast of Mr. Frlncis, if it were susceptible of such 
sensations, a consc.iousness of the faithless part he was 
acting,' he went on to say-' I have lately offered various 
plans for the operations of the war. These have been 
successively rejected, as I have successively amended and 
endeavoured to accommodate them to Mr. Francis' objec­
tions. I had a right to his implicit acquie5cence.' He pointed 
out that Francis demanded a complete plan of the campaign 
in every det.ail, and promised his candid consideration. 
'But in truth, I do not trust to his promise of candour, 
convinced that he is incapable of it, and that his sole 
purpose and wi~h are to embarrass and defeat every measure 
which I may undertake, or which may tend even to promote 
the public interests, if my credit is connected with them. 
Such has been the tendency and such the manifest spirit of 
all his actions from the beginning. Almost every measure 
proposed by me has for that reason had his opposition to it. 
When carried against his opposition, and too far engaged 
to be withd?awn, yet even then and in every stage of it his 
labours to overcome it have been unremitted, every dis­
appointment and misfortune have be~ aggravated by him, 
and every fabricated tale of armies devoted to famine or to 
massacre have found their fir~ and ready way to his office, 

I State Papers, Vol. II, p. 701 
.. 
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where it was known they would meet the most welcome 
reception: And he went on to say: ' My authority for the 
opinion which I have declared concerning Mr. Francis 
depends upon facts which have passed within my own 
certain knowledge. I judge of his public conduct by my 
experience of his private, which I have found to be void of 
truth and honour. This is a severe charge, but temperately 
and deliberately made from the firm persuasion that lowe 
this justice to the public and to myself, as the only redress 
to both, for artifices 'of which I have been a victim, and 
which threaten to involve their intere~ts with disgrace and 
ruin: the only redress for a fraud for which the law has 
made no provision ;" the exp0sure of iL' He then pro­
ceeded to quote the first article 01 the agreement, and he 
added-' By the sanction of thi'i engagement and the 
liberal professions which accompanied it, I was induced to 
part with the friend to whose generous and honourable 
support steadfastly yielded in a course of six year" I am 
indebted for the existence of the little power which I have 
ever possessed in that long and disgraceful period, to throw 
myself on the mercy of Mr. Francis, and on the desperate 
hazard of his integrity.' J 

On the rising of the Council Francis handed a challenge 
to his adversary, which was immediately accepted. The 
duel took place on August 17, 1780, and Francis was shot 
through the body, but not mortally. lIe was ablf" to take 
his seat at the Council again in Septembcl. and he then 
handed in a Minute denying solemnly that he had ever 
made the agreement mentioned by \Van'en H,lstings, 
though admitting that he had agreed to support the exist­
ing operations on the Malabar coast. He also denied that 
the departure of Barwell had anything to do with the 
matter, but in respect to this last assertion it may be 
observed that SIr El~iah Iml'ey, in a letter written at the 
time of the duel, said: 'Mr. Barwell left thIS country on 
the strongc!st assurances that. Mr. Francis would coincide 

1 State Papers, Vol. II, p. 712. 
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with Mr. Hastings, or he would never have gone.' Warren 
Hastings wrote a Minute in reply, referring to the denial 
of Francis in these words: 'What can I say to such a 
declaration but to declare on my part in as solemn a 
manner that Mr. Francis wal a party to the engagement 
which I have stated? This I now most solemnly declare, 
and may God be judge between us. He proceeded to 
give facts and precise dates which seem incontrovertible. 
But in truth, independen __ of Minut~ and assertions, the 
notorious facts are against Francis. The Governor-General 
was safe as long as 1-. had Barwell by his side; Barwell 
had recorded his determination to stay as long as his 
presence was required; is it credible that \Varren Hastings 
would have consented fa his departure if there had not 
been an agreement with Francis? The whole controversy 
is set out in the Introduction to the State Papers, and what 
is the verdict of 1'.11'. Forrest? 'No impartial judge can 
read the respective minutes of the two men without coming 
to the conclusion that Francis wa~ guiity of a gross breach 
offaith.' 

Yet Macaulay has left an opinion on the subject which is 
either a~tonishing in its bias or else is clear proof that he 
wrote without informing him~elf on the facts. 'Then,' says 
he, ' came a dispute, such as frequently arises even between 
honourable men, when they may make important agreements 
by mere verbal communication. An impartial historian will 
probably be of opinion that they had misunderstood each 
other.' This is a good instance of Macaulay's inaccuracy. 
In the case with which he was dealing there was no question 
of mere verbal communication; the agreement had been 
put into wrj:ing and had been produced by Warren 
Hastings at the Council. The solemn promise of BarwelJ 
had been publicly given and was on record in the Minute 
book of that body. It must be a \;trange impartiality 
which could look at the evidence as it stands and say that • there was no~hing involved buP a misund6r.,tanding. The 
damning facts are that Francis made a promise and broke 

II 
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it ; that he entered into a public engagement, not without 
advantage to himself, and when it was convenient to do so, 
he violated faith. He had for years shown faction and 
malignity; he now proved himself capable of perfidy and 
dishonour. 

It may be well, at this point, to give some consideration 
to the character and career of this remarkable man. He 
will come up again when we arrive at the story of Hyder 
Ali's formidable inva~on, but w~ave reached now the real 
crisis of his fortunes in India, when he broke faith with the 
Governor-General and made his st~ at Calcutta for any 
period impossible. 

He had rOT1!('! there wilh great expectations of advance­
ment, fired with the idea that he should supersede Warren 
Ha~tings. Soon after his landing, he wrote: 'I am now, I 
think, on the high road to be Governor of Bengal, which I 
believe is the first situation in the world attainable by a 
subject.' To this ,tim all his efforts were directed, and it is 
no breach of that charity which is due to the dead at least 
as much as to the living, to impute his constant and 
envenomed attacks in Council on the Governor-General to 
this motive. Repeatedly defeated, and, still more often 
worsted in argument though he carried with him the votes, 
he returned, again and again, perseveringly to the attack. 
But, as Mr. Forrest says, he had miscalculated the mental 
vigour and pertinacity of his opponent, and he: left India a 
disappointed and baffird m;Jn, 

Macaulay, in the Essay, gives a clear and, taken as a 
whole, an unprejudiced account of his character. ' The 
ablest of the new CouncilJors,' says he, 'was, beyond all 
doubt, Philip Francis. His acknowledged • compositions 
prove that he possessed considerable eloquence and informa­
tion. Several years I,assed in the public offices had 
Co rmed him to habi~s of business. His enemies have never 
denied t}ytt he had a fearless and manly spirit; and hi~ 
friends, we are (l.fraid, mus(-'acknowledge that his estimate 
of himself was extravagantly high, that his temper was 



INTERNAL DISSENSIONS 99 

irritable, that his deportment was often rude and petulant, 
and that his hatred was of intense bitterness and long 
duration.' 

After giving his reasons, which are cogent, for identifying 
Francis with the anol1ymouslJul1ius, the Essayist proceeds: 
I He was clearly a man not destitute of real patriotism and 
magnanimity, a man whose vices were not of a sordid kind. 
But he must also have been a man in the highest degree 
arrogant and insolent, a ___ 'nan prone. to malevolence, and 
prone to the error of mistaking his malevolence for public 
virtue. "Doest thou ... elI to be angry?" was the question 
asked in old time of the Hebrew prophet. And he 
answered "I do well." • This was evidently the temper of 
Junius; and to this cause we attribute the savage cruelty 
which disgraces several of his letters. No man is so merci­
les~ as he who, under a strong self-delusion, confounds his 
antipathies with his duties. All this, we believe, might 
stand, with scarcely any change, [or a character of Philip 
Francis.' 

It is well to add the opinion of Mr. Forrest: I Had 
Macaulay studied the minutes and letters now printed he 
would have had no reason to correct or modify his judg­
ment regarding Philip Francis. The minutes, like the 
letters of Junius, display the same art of assuming a great 
moral and political superiority and the same art of evading 
difficulties, insinuating unproved charges, and imputing 
unworthy motives. The minutes, like the letters of Junius, 
are distinguished for their clear and vivid style and are 
charged with envenomed and highly elaborated sarcasm. 
In them is displayed the art which Francis possessed to 
supreme petiection of giving the arguments on his side 
their simplest, cleare!'.t and strongest expression, in dis· 
engaging them from all extraneous matter, and making 
them transparently evident to the mos1 cursory reader.' I 

There i6 much more in the Minutes which .shows the 
hate and malignity of the man~ and which 6\lso explains his 

l SfrIlc Papers, Introd., p. xxiv. 
HZ 
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final failure. The baser qualities of human nature, even 
when cleverly used, are apt to shatter themselves against 
the higher attributes of calmness, fortitude, and self-respect. 
On the rock of Warren Hastings' superior character the 
waves of Philip Francis's anilnosity beat in vain. ' The 
struggle between them' (to quote again from Mr. Forrest) 
'for five years had been a severe one, and Francis left 
India defeated only to renew the war in England. With 
ceaseless vigilance an~ concentra~.:d industry he worked to 
secure the recall of his enemy and to gain the coveted 
office. He enjoyed the triumph of se~ng his foe impeached, 
and he endured the bitter disappointment of seeing him 
acquitted aftf'r :!. trial of "even ,years during which hi~ 

activity to secute a convic.tion was unremitting to the end. 
The inveterate hostility which he displayed towards the 
accused created a profound prejudice againc.t Francb, and 
so materially helped to deprive him of the great ambition 
of his life. "I will never be concerned ", he sdid, in bittct­
ness of soul, "in impeaching anybody. The impcachment 
of Mr. Hastings has cured me of that folly. I \\'a» tried 
and he was acquitted." But there was about his nature a 
pertinacity which nothing could ~ubdue. Six-and-twenty 
Yf>ars did he pursue with unwearied zeal and industry his 
object. Then, when Pitt died and the Whig party came 
into office, he believed thc prize to be \vithin his grasp. 
The death of Cornwallis had left the GovernOl-Generaj"hip 
of India once more vacant. But the Jlew Ministers, as Lord 
Brougham said,I could no more have obtained the East 
India Company's consent to the appointment of Franci~ 
than they COUld have transported the Himalaya mountains 
to Leadenhall Street. The fixed ideas and rngovernable 
temper of the man must have brought ruin to their 
dominion. In one of th ! last speeches he ever delivered in 
the House of Com~ons, Francis denounced the second 
Mahratta prar in the same vigorous terms in which he had 
denounced the first Mahratt~ war in the Coup.cil chamber 

J Statesmen oj the time of George III. 


